**RECEIVED**

OCT 22 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

CA No. 05-CP-18-1368  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000387

---

KENNETH SIMMONS, SK5066..... *Petitioner,*

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA..... *Respondent.*

---

**PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

---

**EMILY C. PAAVOLA**  
SC Bar No. 77855  
Death Penalty Resource & Defense Center  
900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803)765-1044

*Counsel for Petitioner*

**

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR Court erred in failing to grant Simmons a new trial under circumstances where: (1) the State presented false, misleading, and unreliable DNA evidence; (2) the State failed to disclose material and favorable evidence regarding its DNA testing; and, (3) “there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction . . . in the interest of justice.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(a)(4); *Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959); *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972); *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667 (1985).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Kenneth Simmons is intellectually disabled. In *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), the United States Supreme Court observed that “[intellectually disabled] defendants in the aggregate face a special risk of wrongful execution” as well as wrongful conviction. *Id.* at 321. The Court noted that, among other things, people with intellectual disability face an increased risk of false confession, they are less able to give meaningful assistance to their counsel, and they are typically poor witnesses. *Id.* at 320-21. The Court ultimately concluded that people who are intellectually disabled should be ineligible for the death penalty because, by definition, the “characteristics of [intellectual disability] undermine the strength of the procedural protections that our capital jurisprudence steadfastly guards.” *Id.* at 317; *see also Hall v. Florida*, 134 S. Ct. 1986, 1993 (2014) (reaffirming that people with intellectual disability face a special risk of wrongful conviction). This case epitomizes that rationale. Simmons’ conviction rests exclusively on false DNA testimony and an incriminating statement obtained under circumstances known to produce false confessions.

Lilly Bell Boyd was an elderly, African-American woman who lived alone in Summerville, South Carolina. App. 1032. She was last seen alive in her yard on Saturday, August 31, 1996, and she was found murdered in her home the following day. App. 1077. She had been beaten, strangled, and sexually assaulted. The Summerville Police Department actively investigated the case for a year without success, prompting the State Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”) to form a task force to solve the case. The task force requested a suspect profile and then rounded up and interrogated nearly thirty men from the area who generally fit that profile. App. 1330-31; 1340.

In October of 1997, a task force member suggested Simmons, a black man from Boyd’s neighborhood, as a potential suspect. Shortly thereafter, Simmons was arrested for placing two family packs of steaks down his pants at the Food Lion, and held until he could be questioned by task force members. App. 1442. From December 2-9, 1997, Summerville police detectives and/or SLED agents interrogated Simmons six times. App. 4231. He gave multiple incriminating statements and ultimately confessed to the Boyd murder. Simmons’ statements are inconsistent, contradictory, do not correspond to any actual evidence, and are highly implausible. *Id.* Moreover, there are several situational reasons to doubt the reliability of Simmons’ incriminating statements, and his intellectual disability is foremost among numerous risk factors associated with false confessions. *See Atkins*, 536 U.S. at 320 n.25.

In addition to Simmons’ statements, the State relied heavily on DNA evidence. In fact, these two pieces of evidence constituted the entirety of the State’s case for guilt. The solicitor told the jury in his opening statement:

The State’s case consists basically of Kenneth Simmons’ confession, statements that are on tape that he gave Kenny Mears. And it also consists of DNA evidence. You’ll also

hear that an effort was made at the crime scene to take fingerprints, to identify footprints and that kind of thing. And there will be no fingerprint evidence that matches up with Kenneth Simmons. There will be no footwear that matches up with him. We're looking at confessions and DNA.

App. 1041-42.

The State's DNA testimony came from two expert witnesses employed by Lifecodes Corporation – Lauren Crane and her supervisor, Michael Baird. They provided the only proof of the two factual propositions at the center of the purported DNA “match” around which Simmons' prosecution was built: (a) that vaginal swabs taken from the victim's body contained a mixture of the perpetrator's and victim's DNA; and, (b) that laboratory testing had shown a match between Simmons' DNA and the mixture from the victim at all nine of the genetic locations that had been examined. App. 1470-71. Based on this purported match, Baird further claimed that the statistical likelihood that someone other than Simmons contributed to the mixture was roughly 1 in a billion in the Caucasian population and 1 in 8 million in the African-American population. App. 1479-82.

*None of this testimony was true.* As discussed in greater detail below, the State's witnesses presented the jury with fabricated data to support their “match” conclusion, and the State failed to disclose evidence that would have revealed their expert testimony as false and unreliable.

After this Court affirmed his convictions and sentence on direct appeal, *State v. Simmons*, 360 S.C. 33, 599 S.E.2d 448 (2004), Simmons sought post-conviction relief. The PCR Court conducted an evidentiary hearing and issued an Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief Pursuant to *Atkins*, but denying relief on the merits of all other grounds. App. 5296-5311. The State filed a notice of appeal, and Simmons cross-appealed. On July 27, 2015,

this Court affirmed the lower court's order vacating Simmons' death sentence because he is intellectually disabled and, further, granted Simmons' Petition for a Writ of Certiorari regarding the DNA claim.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The State presented false DNA testimony at trial and withheld favorable, material evidence.**

In support of his post-conviction claims, Simmons offered testimony from three DNA experts: Dr. Steven Lambert, a former DNA analyst and forensic department supervisor for SLED; Dr. Charlotte Word, formerly the Senior Manager, Forensic and Laboratory Director at Orchid Cellmark; and, Dr. Robin Cotton, a professor and program director in Biomedical Forensic Sciences at Boston University School of Medicine. The parties also offered numerous exhibits and the deposition testimony of Lauren Crane and Michael Baird, the Lifecodes employees who provided the State's trial testimony. The post-conviction record establishes beyond any reasonable dispute that the State's DNA evidence at trial was false, misleading, unreliable and fraught with error. It also shows that the State failed to disclose favorable and material evidence in violation of due process.

#### **A. The State's witnesses testified to fabricated CTT results.**

During Lauren Crane's testimony at trial, the State introduced a chart, labeled State's Exhibit Number 24, which she described in detail. App. 1464-71. The chart depicts the nine genetic locations to which Crane testified. The first six locations were tested in early January of 1998 with the DQ Alpha Polymarker kit (hereafter referred to as "DQA/PM"), which tests for six genetic locations (named LDLR, GYPA, HBGG, D7S8, GC, and HLADQA1). The last three locations were tested approximately two weeks later by a single test known as CTT (to represent the three genetic locations it identifies:

CSF1PO, TPOX and THO1). The chart, as it appeared before the jury, looked like this:

<u>ITEM</u>	<u>LDLR</u>	<u>GYPA</u>	<u>HBGG</u>	<u>D7S8</u>	<u>GC</u>	<u>HLA DQA1</u>	<u>CSEIPO</u>	<u>TPOX</u>	<u>THO1</u>
LILLY BELL BOYD BLOOD FI56389	A, B	A, B	A, C	A	B	2, 4.2 / 4.3			
KENNETH SIMMONS BLOOD FB68555-60	B	A, B	A, C	AB	AC	1.1, 1.2	10, 11	10, 11	7, 8
VAGINAL SWAB IN SALINE FROM MUSC - MALE FRACTION FI56384	A, B	A, B	A, C	A, (B)	B, (AC)	1.1, 2, * 4.2 / 4.3	10, 11	10, 11	7, 8
VAGINAL SWAB IN SALINE FROM MUSC - FEMALE FRACTION FI56384F	A, B	A, B	A, C	A	B	2 4.2, 4.3			
2 VAGINAL SWABS FROM SLED - MALE FRACTION FI56386	A, B	A, B	A, C	A, (B)	B, (AC)	1.1, 2, * 4.2 / 4.3	10, 11	10, 11	7, 8
2 VAGINAL SWABS FROM SLED - FEMALE FRACTION FI56386F	A, B	A, B	A, C	A	B	2, 4.2 / 4.3			

\* indicates that a 1.2 allele may be present

() indicates allele of lesser intensity

The first two rows of this chart depict the genetic results obtained from Lilly Bell Boyd's and Kenneth Simmons' *known* samples, respectively. The last four rows purport to show the results obtained from the evidentiary samples – *i.e.*, vaginal swabs taken from the victim's body (sample number F156384 and sample number F156386). Crane and Baird both testified that Simmons' DNA was consistent with the evidentiary samples at nine out of nine tested genetic locations. App. 1470-71, 1480-82. Exhibit Number 24 likewise represented to the jury that CTT results from Simmons' known sample were exactly the same as the CTT results obtained from the vaginal swabs. This testimony was false.

First, with regard to sample number F156384, Crane and Baird both admitted during their post-conviction depositions that a CTT test was *never* conducted on this sample because the sample was consumed before any CTT testing could be performed. App. 4723-24, 4733-34, 4798, 4807-08. Lifecodes' lab notes also indicate that sample number F156384 was completely exhausted before the CTT testing ever began. App. 4444 (lab record dated 1/15/1998, stating: "Note: No Sample 56384 left"); *see also* App. 4946-47 (Dr. Word testifying that a CTT test was never performed on this sample because "there was no DNA left for further testing").

Second, Lifecodes *did* complete a CTT test on sample number F156386, but the results reported at trial on State's Exhibit Number 24 are completely false. Crane testified that the CTT results for sample number F156386 were the same as those obtained from Simmons' known blood sample. In fact, the results that Lifecodes obtained from sample number F156386 *do not match Simmons' DNA*. App. 4951 ("Q: Is Mr. Simmons incriminated in any way by the CTT testing results? A: Not from those results, no. *No way.*"). Instead, the CTT results from this sample were consistent with the victim's DNA

alone, and they indicate only a single DNA profile – not a mixture of DNA from more than one person. App. 4951, 5048, 5054.

Thus, Exhibit Number 24 (and Crane’s trial testimony regarding its contents) represented data that are completely unsupported by the laboratory’s notes or test results. App. 5048. There are no records in this case that would support including Simmons as a potential contributor to the CTT results from the evidentiary samples taken from the victim’s body. That is, the data presented to the jury at trial regarding the CTT tests were simply fabricated. *Id.* The exhibit, when corrected, looks like this:

<u>ITEM</u>	<u>LDLR</u>	<u>GYPA</u>	<u>HBGG</u>	<u>D7S8</u>	<u>GC</u>	<u>HLADQA1</u>	<u>CSF1PO</u>	<u>TPOX</u>	<u>TH01</u>
LILLY BELL BOYD BLOOD FI56389	A, B	A, B	A, C	A	B	2, 42/43	10,12	9	8
KENNETH SIMMONS BLOOD FB68555-60	B	A, B	A, C	AB	AC	1,1,12	<del>10,11</del> 10,12	10,11	7,8
VAGINAL SWAB IN SALINE FROM MUSC - MALE FRACTION FI56384	A, B	A, B	A, C	A, (B)	B, (AC)	1,1,2,* 42/43	<del>10,11</del> Not done	<del>10,11</del> Not done	<del>7,8</del> Not done
VAGINAL SWAB IN SALINE FROM MUSC - FEMALE FRACTION FI56384F	A, B	A, B	A, C	A	B	2 42/43	No results	No results	No results
2 VAGINAL SWABS FROM SLED - MALE FRACTION FI56386	A, B	A, B	A, C	A, (B)	B, (AC)	1,1,2,* 42/43	<del>10,11</del> 10,12	<del>10,11</del> 9	<del>7,8</del> 8
2 VAGINAL SWABS FROM SLED - FEMALE FRACTION FI56386F	A, B	A, B	A, C	A	B	2, 42/43	10,12	9	8

Lifecodes never disclosed that it had conducted a CTT test on the evidentiary samples, nor did it ever report what those test results purported to show. In her deposition, Crane explained that Lifecodes never issued such a report because she considered all of the CTT testing to be *inconclusive* and *she did not rely on those results in any way*:

A: There was no, in my opinion, conclusive result that I could generate that I felt was conclusive with the CTT result. Therefore, there was no official report that was generated.

...

Q: If you made no official report for the CTT results, what evidentiary value do they have --

A: I don't know.

Q: -- with regard to Mr. Simmons' case?

A: I don't know. I would say that based on the results I'm seeing and based on the fact that I have no conclusive report from that, that those results were inconclusive.

Q: So basically for comparison purposes to determine whether or not Mr. Simmons is or is not a contributor to the evidentiary samples in this case, you would not include any of the CTT results?

A: Correct.

App. 4830-31.

The jury that found Simmons guilty never learned that the CTT results were inconclusive and lacked any evidentiary value relevant to Simmons' case. On the contrary, both experts falsely claimed that Simmons' DNA was consistent with the evidentiary

samples at all nine locations, and they presented an exhibit purporting to show that his DNA matched the evidentiary samples at all nine locations, including those tested by CTT.

In post-conviction, the State's witnesses could offer no coherent explanation for how this fabricated evidence ended up before the jury. Dr. Baird was deposed on September 24, 2010. He testified that some things on the trial exhibit appeared to be incorrect, that he hoped Lauren Crane would have a better recollection about those matters, and that he had no idea how that information got onto the exhibit. App. 4733-34. However, during her deposition on November 29, 2010, Lauren Crane repeatedly asserted that it was *Dr. Baird* who prepared Exhibit Number 24 in preparation for trial. App. 4799, 4800, 4803, 4806, 4809, 4815, 4821, 4823, 4827, 4828. She further claimed that she never viewed the exhibit prior to her trial testimony, and that she just read the information off of the chart without realizing that it was incorrect because she assumed Dr. Baird had properly prepared it:

Q: It seems to me that you testified about this chart as State's Exhibit Number 24 for the State.

A: And at the beginning of my testimony I was asked if I had previously reviewed the chart that as a combination prepared to show the results, and my answer was, no, not – not recently, no. So the first time I saw that chart was when we were in court.

Q: All right. You said, "Not recently, no."

A: Right. And then he said, "Let me hand you the report."

Q: "Would that chart be of assistance to you in explaining to the jury the results of your PCR analysis?"

A: Right, because it had the types that were listed there.

...

Q: And the numbers that you said were “10,11”?

A: Right. Reading it from the chart, not looking at the gel and not having seen this chart before. Assuming that this chart was prepared by Mike and it was correct. I stated I had not seen this chart before that moment.

Q: Well, you said you hadn’t seen it recently. You mean you had never seen it prior to it being shown at trial?

A: I had not seen that chart that they prepared for the court, no.

Q: Okay. So when you said that your findings were at 10,11, you were just reading off the chart, assuming the chart was correct. In actuality, the chart was incorrect?

A: Correct.

App. 4803-06.

Subsequently, on December 15, 2011, the State offered live testimony from Solicitor Walter Bailey who claimed that *he* prepared the exhibit in preparation for trial, but he stated that he did so only with data provided to him by Crane and Baird. App. 4649-50. Further, Bailey initially corroborated Crane’s story by insisting that “the exhibit was never given to anybody from Lifecodes prior to trial.” App. 4652. He explained that he “intended to go over it with them, but they came in late. . . . [S]o the bottom line is I did not get an opportunity to go over the chart with her before she testified.” App. 4652-54. On cross-examination, however, Bailey changed course and admitted that correspondence established that he sent the exhibit to Crane for review prior to trial. App. 4659; *see also* App. 4705 (letter from Bailey to Crane dated 12/21/98).

**B. The State did not disclose evidence indicating testing error with regard to all nine genetic locations.**

As explained above, the CTT results that Lifecodes actually obtained from the evidentiary samples were consistent with the victim's known blood sample only. In other words, the CTT results do not show a mixture of DNA at all. Rather, only a single DNA profile consistent with the victim is evident from the CTT tests. As Drs. Charlotte Word and Robin Cotton explained, this discrepancy indicates a testing error, since the CTT tests were performed on the same samples that were examined with the DQA/PM test, which Lifecodes claimed included a mixture of male and female DNA. Given that Lifecodes purported to find a mixture with the DQA/PM test results, "it is expected that DNA from a second individual should have been detected with the CTT testing of the same DNA." App. 5055. It simply cannot be true that the DQA/PM test results showed a mixture of DNA, but the subsequent, more sophisticated CTT tests showed only a single DNA profile.

Moreover, after obtaining the surprising CTT test results, Lifecodes conducted an additional test on February 9, 1998, called an "amelogenin" test. App. 4953-54. This test determines the gender for the source of a DNA sample, and it is therefore more colloquially called a "gender-typing" test. All of the samples tested with the gender-typing test showed only an "X" chromosome, consistent with the DNA being solely from a female source. *Id.* In other words, *no male DNA was identified* in the evidentiary samples. App. 5055. ("[t] here is no hint of a band at the Y chromosome (i.e., male) location"). Lifecodes never reported that it had completed a gender-typing test or that the results indicated that no male DNA was present in the evidentiary samples. App. 4956-57.

The most likely explanation for the inconsistency between Lifecodes' purported DQA/PM results and the findings of the CTT and Gender-Typing tests is error during the DQA/PM testing. App. 4955. And, the most likely factual scenario is that the crime scene

samples never contained a testable mixture of DNA, but were contaminated with an outside source of DNA during the DQA/PM testing process. A reagent blank control process (also called an extraction blank control) would have been a crucial step in preventing testing error, but Lifecodes failed to use these controls. App. 5048; 5009-10. The need for a reagent blank control was well-known by the early 1990's, and it was specifically included in Guidelines for a Quality Assurance Program for DNA Analysis, published by the Technical Working Group on DNA Analysis Methods in 1991. App. 5060-61. Once again, Lifecodes never reported that it was not using reagent blank controls – even when trial counsel specifically requested information about the lab's quality assurance program. *See* App. 4515-16.

In addition to the errors identified above, Lifecodes failed to follow a number of other generally accepted practices and procedures. None of these errors was disclosed to trial counsel. As a result, the jury that ultimately convicted Simmons and sentenced him to death operated under the false impression that: (1) DNA evidence conclusively identified Simmons as the perpetrator of the crime; (2) that there was no reason to question the accuracy or reliability of the State's DNA evidence; and, (3) the State's witnesses were entirely credible. As the post-conviction evidence demonstrated, if the jury had known the truth about Lifecodes' numerous testing errors, reporting failures and general bad practices, there is – at a minimum – a reasonable probability that the jury would have concluded that the DNA evidence was unreliable and inaccurate and/or that the State's witnesses were not credible.

In fact, numerous courts have reached exactly that conclusion after receiving evidence that Dr. Baird and other employees of the Lifecodes lab (operating under Baird's

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