STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 26 2016

On Grant of Certiorari Review

SC SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas (PCR)
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

C/A No.: 2005-CP-18-1368
(Capital PCR Action)
Appellate Case No. 2014-000387

Kenneth Simmons, #5066,
Petitioner

vs.

State of South Carolina,
Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

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

ARGUMENT

“On certiorari in a PCR action, the Court applies the ‘any evidence’ standard of review.” *Terry v. State*, 394 S.C. 62, 66, 714 S.E.2d 326, 328 (2011) (quoting *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989)). This “Court will affirm if any evidence of probative value in the record exists to support the findings of the PCR court.” *Id.* The record fully and fairly supports the PCR judge’s determination that the claim does not warrant relief. However, the issue presented is procedurally deficient for a review on the merits as Simmons failed to request the required findings of facts and conclusions of law.

A. *The DNA evidence claim is procedurally barred from review. Simmons failed to request factual findings and conclusions that allow fair review of the issue on appeal.*

As the State asserted in the return to Simmons’ petition, (Return p. 8), Simmons failed to obtain a sufficient ruling with factual findings and legal conclusions for review, or point out any incorrect matter of law. Simmons did not request a sufficient ruling by the PCR judge and has not even requested within this appeal that the order be vacated and remanded for specific findings. Of note, the PCR judge adopted the language submitted by Simmons in Simmons’ proposed order that *specifically did not address any other issue.*⁸ Therefore, this issue is procedurally barred and may not be considered on the merits.

Further, there are no findings on credibility or other facts that would allow for sufficient and fair review of this issue – none. The only arguments from either side are speculative based upon each parties position presented and not the PCR judge’s ruling.

⁸ Judge Early announced his ruling in general terms by email dated September 6, 2013. Simmons submitted a proposed order by email dated September 11, 2013. The Clerk of Court records reflect the Order granting relief was filed October 21, 2013. See <http://publicindex.sccourts.org/Dorchester/PublicIndex/CaseDetails> (Case Number 2005CP1801368) (last checked January 22, 2016).

Simmons should not be rewarded for his failure to obtain a specific ruling that could support fair appellate review. The record shows Simmons made a choice to narrow his presentation, and, ultimately, to narrow representation to protection of the ruling after receiving a favorable ruling on intellectual disability. Simmons is not entitled to any relief much less *de novo* review. This would be especially troubling without complete credibility findings which were clearly and soundly against Simmons and his evidence when the matter was before the PCR judge. At most, the only relief available at this juncture would be for this Court to vacate the order and remand for sufficient findings by Judge Early to effect any semblance of fair review. However, this Court's precedent would dictate finding the issue barred from appellate review on the merits.

Discussion

Simmons briefed only the mental retardation issue and DNA issue prior to trial,⁹ (App. pp. 3784- 3796), and only the mental retardation issue and DNA issue were briefed for the PCR judge after receipt of testimony, (See App. pp. 5148-5173).¹⁰ The PCR judge's order addressed the mental retardation claim with specific findings of facts and a conclusion of law.¹¹ However, as to all other claims, Judge Early found:

... Applicant has raised a number of other claims challenging his conviction and death sentence. ***The claims relating to his conviction are denied as without merit.*** In light of this Court's finding that applicant is mentally retarded, the remaining claims attacking the sentence are moot. ...

(App. p. 5311) (emphasis added).

⁹ In his pre-trial brief, Simmons advised: "... the evidence offered at the hearing will primarily focus on two primary claims: (1) ... mental retardation; and, (2) that the DNA evidence offered at Mr. Simmons trial was – in several respects – false, misleading, incomplete and incorrect." (App. p. 3790).

¹⁰ The PCR judge allowed briefing on any issue but asked for focus on the mental retardation issue. (See App. p. 5024).

¹¹ Again, the inaccuracies in the findings of fact were the subject of the State's motion to alter or amend and the State's appeal.

The State moved to alter or amend contesting the basis for many of the factual findings in and conclusions expressed in the Order adopted by Judge Early. Simmons did not request rulings on the remaining issues. Simmons only responded to the State's motion to alter or amend. Under clearly established law in this jurisdiction, the instant issue is procedurally barred from review.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 requires specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on the issue presented in a PCR action. This Court “has made it abundantly clear that, where a PCR court fails to set forth findings and the reasons for those findings, the issue is not preserved for appellate review if the petitioner fails to make a Rule 59(e) motion requesting the PCR court make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on the allegations.” *Smith v. State*, 404 S.C. 493, 505, 745 S.E.2d 378, 384 (Ct. App. 2012). *See, e.g., Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007); *McCray v. State*, 305 S.C. 329, 330, 408 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1991) (“The PCR court’s conclusions regarding ineffective assistance are insufficient for appellate review and fail to meet the standard set forth in the statute.”).

This Court has mandated that “counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by § 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRCP.” *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992). General language denying issues not addressed in the order are insufficient to “constitute a sufficient ruling” and precludes appellate review. *Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. at 409, 653 S.E.2d at 266. Further, mere legal conclusions, like the one here, are also deemed insufficient. *McCray, supra*. Insufficiency or irregularities in the order of dismissal or order process are waived if the PCR applicant fails to request the PCR court alter or amend the order for the specified reason. *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004) (“Hall waived his right to make this

challenge [regarding sufficient of review by PCR judge] when he failed to file a motion to alter or amend the order.”).

Defense attorneys as well as the State are held to this principle which has been widely noted in articles and case law. *See, e.g.*, John H. Blume & Emily C. Paavola, *A Reintroduction: Survival Skills for Post-Conviction Practice in South Carolina*, 4 Charleston L. Rev. 223, 269 (2010) (“In order to preserve all issues for appellate review, counsel must carefully review the final order and address any insufficiency through a Rule 59(e) motion requesting the PCR court to specifically address each issue raised in the application.”); John H. Blume, *An Introduction to Post-Conviction Remedies, Practice and Procedure in South Carolina*, 45 S.C. L. Rev. 235, 256 (1994) (“Furthermore, as noted above, the South Carolina Supreme Court recently held that counsel must file a rule 59(e) motion if the order does not set forth the findings and the reason for the findings relevant to each and every ground for relief contained in the application.”); Charles E. Carpenter, Jr., *Preserving Error for Appeal – A Special Case – Rule 59(e) Motions*, S.C. Law., MARCH/APRIL 1995, at 15, 18 (issue may be preserved by sufficient ruling or by post-trial motion requesting a specific ruling: “if the trial judge rules against a party but does not, for whatever reason, state why, the lawyers must go back and ask a second time. Maybe they will have more success the second time around. Probably not. But sometimes they do. Always they must ask.”); *Burgess v. State*, 402 S.C. 92, 95, 738 S.E.2d 264, 265-66 (Ct. App. 2013) (“Because the State failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR court to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the prejudice prong, we find the issue on appeal is not preserved for our review.”).

PCR applicants may also be instructed individually by a law review written by an inmate acknowledging same. *See* Demetrio L. Sears, *South Carolina Post-Conviction Relief:*

Practical Considerations and Procedures from A Prisoner's Perspective, 64 S.C. L. Rev. 1169, 1253-54 (2013) (“In order to preserve all issues for appellate review, counsel must carefully review the final order and address any insufficiently through a Rule 59(e) motion” noting this Court in *Pruitt* “placed an obligation on counsel to file a Rule 59(e) motion when an order fails to set forth findings regarding issues raised and the reasons for those findings”).

Thus, experienced defense counsel (in this case, one of whom co-authored one of the articles cited above), failed to preserve the issue for appellate review on the merits and failed to at any point (and not even now) attempt to redress the error by requesting a remand. Simmons – having failed to secure any record of specific factual findings, including credibility findings that are squarely in the province of the PCR judge – is not entitled to have the issue reviewed *de novo* here. The issue is barred from review.

To the extent Petitioner would seek alternatively to have the order vacated and the matter returned to the circuit court, the State agrees there is some precedent for that route. See *Bryson v. State*, 328 S.C. 236, 236-37, 493 S.E.2d 500 (1997) (“remand this matter to the circuit court to issue an order addressing its decision to dismiss McCullough’s second application as successive”); *McCullough v. State*, 320 S.C. 270, 272, 464 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1995) (“vacat[ing] the order of dismissal, and remand[ing] this matter to the post-conviction relief judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as to each issue raised by petitioner in his post-conviction relief application and at the hearing thereon”). However, in *Marlar v. State*, this Court noted that prior precedent vacating and remanding to the PCR judge was “extraordinary action” to push compliance with precedent that instructed counsel to carefully review orders and make appropriate post-trial motions to ensure the sufficiency of the ruling for appeal. 375 S.C. at 410, 653 S.E.2d at 267. This

Court denied all relief, including remanding the matter to the lower court: “Because respondent did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review, and the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the merits of the issues and remanding the matter to the PCR judge.” *Id.* Consequently, in equal application of the law, the issue should be considered procedurally barred from review on the merits. *But see Lindsey v. State*, Appellate Case No.: 2012-206087 (vacating Order of Dismissal “in light of the Court’s concern with the frequency and severity of the drafting errors in the Order of Dismissal and with this Court’s admonishments ... to include specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on each issue presented, based on accurate references to the record and the applicable law.”).

Even so, if one presumes the credibility rulings were against the Petitioner, which is necessarily required for consistency with the conclusion at issue, the record fully and fairly supports the PCR judge’s ruling that the claims were without merit.

B. The DNA evidence claim fails on the facts of record.

Again, nothing in the evidence is exculpatory. Simmons challenges only the accuracy the demonstrative aid used by the State and the DNA statistics presented at trial. Each is addressed separately below though the overwhelmingly weighty factor in the analysis must be the lack of exculpatory DNA evidence. Simply, he failed to show a basis for relief.¹²

¹² It is of no little note that Simmons also raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding a failure to challenge the DNA evidence. That issue was abandoned. Defense counsel Theos testified, though, that he retained and work with a DNA expert, Dr. Ron Ostrowski. (App. p. 4145). Counsel consulted with that expert, requested and received specific discovery on the DNA testing for his expert to review, and shaped the cross-examination, not on incorrect entries on the solicitor’s chart or subjective consideration, but on the firm concession by Ms. Crane that a specific “1.2 allele” could not be confirmed, and it could be that Simmons was completed excluded. (See App. pp. 4145-4152). (See also

The Solicitor's Chart

The Solicitor's chart of DNA samples and results, which was used as a demonstrative aid during the trial, has incorrect entries. Simmons contends that by relying on the chart, the State presented "false, misleading, inaccurate and unreliable DNA evidence." (See App. p. 3733; pp. 5148-5156; Petition, p. 5; Brief of Petition, pp. 4 and 8) (emphasis added). Such an argument fails for several reasons.

First, a demonstrative aid is not primary evidence but its value depends upon the testimony connected to the exhibit. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 383, 529 S.E.2d 528, 535 (2000) ("Such evidence has secondary relevance to the issues at hand..."). See also Danny R. Collins, *South Carolina Evidence*, 400 (2d ed. 2000) ("[d]emonstrative evidence is not the thing itself; it only demonstrates or illustrates the facts given by other evidence."). Simmons simply failed to show that the use of the chart at trial affected the presentation of

App. pp. 1472-1473, and p. 4522, report noting review of Life Codes lab report and conclusions that "vaginal swab sample (male fraction) indicates a "mixed sample" which supports the "sample contains DNA from Simmons and Boyd" or "DNA from more than one sperm donor and possibly Boyd" and suggesting strategy on "short comings of the dot ... system"). Defense counsel not only attempted to neutralize the DNA evidence results with questions on this key allele, but also to neutralize the statistical evidence with such questions. (See App. pp. 1482-1484).

Also of note, Simmons' PCR expert in DNA, Mr. Lambert, agreed that the 1.2 allele information was reported correctly, and that no test exists to firmly identify that allele, So, in essence, the PCR expert agreed the defense expert at trial correctly advised trial counsel and trial could correctly and fairly argue that Simmons could be excluded under the theory advanced at trial. (App. pp. 4084-4085; p. 4135). The DNA evidence was not ignored by counsel, and the defense strategy was proven sound. In sum, if excluded of course the statistics – whatever they may be – would be neutralized. See *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 690-91, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984) ("strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable ... a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.").

the results and evidence offered by Life Codes scientist Dr. Lauren Crane.¹³ In short, Ms. Crane's testimony was an accurate reflection of her tests and her results.

The jury was aware that the chart was "a combination of charts" not a chart from the laboratory – that was implicit in the question on identification. (App. p. 1464). Ms. Crane not only clarified in her deposition for the PCR action that she had not seen the combination chart prior to trial,¹⁴ but also confirmed that there was an error in the CF1PO column, ("It

¹³ Simmons generally challenges Life Codes' reliability. (See Petition, pp. 16-17; Brief of Petitioner, p. 15). Of note, the State did not attempt to avoid SLED testing or obtain different results. Rather, SLED determined the sample was too small to perform the testing in house, but that private firms, such as Life Codes, could perform more sophisticated testing. (App. p. 4078). Further, the cases Simmons has relied to suggest an issue with Life Codes in general, however, do not support his assertion.

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